IN THE MATTER OF: | | BEFORE THE COMMISSIONER OF
SOUTHWEST CONSULTING | FINANCIAL REGULATION
ENTERPRISES, INC., d/b/a ~ -

'HOME MATTERS USA
and | | | |  |OAH NO.: LABOR -CFR-76-23-21220
ROGER SCOTT DYER ' CFR NO.: FY2023-0009
and |

' ROY WILLIAMSON

. RESPONDENTS

PROPOSED FINAL ORDER

The Proposed Decision ("Proposed Decision") of the Administrative ‘Law Judge (the
"ALJ"), issued on December 13,2023, in the above captioned case, having been received, read
and considered, it is, by the Commissioner of Financial Regulation (the "Cemm1ssmner“) this

9th day of February 2024 ORDERED,

A. That fhe Proposed Findings of Faet ("FF") listed on pagee 4-7 of the Proposed Decision and
enumerated as 1 through 18 be, and hereby are, ADOPTED, except that two additional FFs-
are added as FF 19 and FF 20 which sheﬂ state in their entirety as follows:

19.. The Responderits received notice in accordance with Marylami law of ihese
proceed_ings and the hearing scheduled before the Maryland Office of Administrative
Hearings on November 14, 2023. | |

20. The Maryland Office of Administrative Hearings timely convened the hearing

scheduled in this matter on November 14, 2023, at which time the Respondents failed to . ‘

appear.
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B. Pursuﬁﬁt to Md. Code Ann., State Gov. §10—220(d), the Commissioner finds that the Proposed
Decision contained 1nformat10n conﬁmnng the Respondents. received notice of these
proceedings in accordance with Maryland taw, 1nclud1ng the heanng scheduled for November
14, 2023; the Office of Administrative Hearings timely convened the heanng;_ and the
Respondents did not ai:pear for the hearing. The Commissioner desires to formalize that
information into I 19 and 20. |

C. That the Proposed Conclusions of Law (“COL”) listed on pages 13-14 of the Proposed
Decision be, and hereby are, ADOPTED, except that.an additional COL is hereby added aé
COL 1., the ALPs COL 1 is thercfore remumbered as COL 2, and COL 2 is therefore -
renumbered as COL 3. The -new‘COL 1. shall read in its entirety as follows: . .

1. Operated as a mortgago assistance felief service provider ‘within the
meaning of Md. Code Ann., Real Prop. §7-502 (e)(2) and are therefofe subject to
the reqmrements of the CER. and MARS. |

D. Pursuant to Md. Code Ann., State Gov. §10—220(d) the Conumssmner finds that
adding a new COL 1 and renumbering ALJICOL1 a;ld ALJ COL 2 as COL 2 and COL

. 3 clarifies that the Respondents operated as a morigage assistance relief service
-prqvic.lér,witﬁin the meaning of Md. Code.Ann., Real Prop. §7-502 (e)(2) and are

| therefore subject to the requi'renients of the C.F.R. and ‘MARS. ALJ FF 5 and 6 and
information presented in the case support this conclusion of law. |

E. The ALJ’s recommendation for a cease and desist order be and hereby is ADOPTED;

F. Respondents shall immediately CEASE AND 'DESIST from operating as a ;rnortgage
ass1stance relief service prov1der within the meaning of Md. Code Ann Real Prop §7-502

(e)(2) in the State of Maryland
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The ALP’s recommendation of the amount of the civil penalty or fine imposed on the
Respondenté and the analysis supporting such régom1ncndation Be and hereby is
ADOPTED!; | |

The Respondents shall pay a civil l;enalty of $60,000;

The Respondents shall pay the Coﬁmissioner the penalty iﬁposed hereiﬁ, by cashier's

check or certified check made payable to the "Commissioner of Financial Regulation," the |

amount of $60,000, within twenty (20) days from the date of this Proposed Final Order; .

" The ALJ's recommendation that the Respondents shall pay restitution to the complaindnts

totaling $28,170.57 is ADOPTED; |

The Respondents shaﬁ pay restitution to the complainants in the-amount of $28,170.57;
The Respondents shall pay the restitution in the anic')unt of $28,170.57 to the complainants,
by cashier's chec;k or certified check mﬁde payable to the complainants the amount of
$23',1'_?0.57’ and mailed to the Coinmissioner as sef forth hereiti, within twer_ﬂ;y (20) days

from the date of this Proposed Final Orde;

. The ALI's recommendation that the Respondents be jointly and severally liable for the

payment of the penalty and the restitution is ADOPTED;

The Respon(iehts shall be jointly and severally liable for payment of the penalty and the

restitution;

! In adopting the ALY's recommendation of the amount of the civil penalty or fine imposed on the Respondénts,

‘the Commissioner considered the criteria set forth in Md. Code Aun., Fin. Inst. §2-115(c) and finds that the

. analysis provided by the ALJ correctly applied these criteria. While the Commissionet has no evidence of previous -
violations by the Respondents and no information on the Respondents’ respective assets, the Respondents’ chose
not to engage with the Comumissioner’s office in addressing the complainants’ complaint and therefore did not
offer any mitigating information. The ALJ cleatly found the Respondents engaged in egregious violations of
applicable law resulting in substantial harm fo the complaingnts, These factors justify the s1gmﬁcant penalty

recommended by the AL
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- 0. Respondents shall send all cﬁrrespquence, notices, civil penalties, restitution and other
required submissions t'o tﬁe Commissioner at the following address: Commissioner of
Finajnc;ial ReguIaﬁon, 1100 North Futaw Street, Suite 611, Baltimoré, MD 21201, Attention:
'Proceédings Administrator; and

P. The records and publications of the Commissioner reflect the Proposed Final Order.

Pursuant to COMAR 09.01.03.09, Respondenfs have the right to file exceptions to the
. Proposed Final Order and present arguments to the Coﬁmisgioner. Respondents have twenty
(20) days from the postmark date of this Proposed Final Order to file exceptio'ns with the.
- Commissioner. COMAR 09.01.03.09A(1). Un]es;‘s written exceptions are filed within the twenty |
(20)—da‘y ‘deadline noted above, this Order shall be deemed to be the final decision of the
-Commissionér and subject to judicial review pursuant to Md Code Ann., State Gov. §10-222.

Respondents may have the right to file a petition for judicial review; however, the filing

of a petition for judicial review does not automatically stay the enforcement of this order.

Date: e ' ' - MARYLAND COMMISSIONER OF
o ' F]NANCIAL REGULATION

February 9, 2024 | By: K{A)Anw @ (QODAA\/’/

Antonio P. Salazar,
- Commissioner of Fmanclal
Regulation .
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' MARYLAND COMMISSIONER OF . BEFORE DENISE O. SHAFFER,

" FINANCIAL REGULATION * AN ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

. o *  OF THE MARYLAND OFFICT, OF
SOUTHWEST CONSULTING ¢ ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS
'ENTERPRISES, INC,, d/b/a *  OAHNO.: LABOR-CFR-76-23-21220
HOME MATTERS USA, et al., *  CFRNO.: CFR-Fyzozé-oo-og |

- RESPONDENTS

PROPOSED-DECISI(‘)N1

' STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ISSUES
SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT
. DISCUSSION
PROPOSED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
RECOMMENDED ORDER ,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 20, 2023, the Assistant Commiésioner of Financial Régula:tion (Corhm.is_-sioner or
CFR) issuéd a Statement of Chargesland Order for Hearing against Southwest Consulting
Enterprises, 'Inc., doing business as Home Matters USA, (Respondent Home Matters), Roger
Scott Dyer, (Respondent Dyér) émd Roy Willi_e;mson, (Respondent Williamson), (collectively,
-Respondents), alleging that Respondent Home Ma;cters violated the Maryiand Mortgage
Assistance Relief Services Act (MARS), Md. Code Ann., Real Prop. §§ 7-5 61~5 1'1 (2023) and
| Title 12, Sections 161.5.1—1 1 c;f the dee of Federal Regulations _(C.F.IR..).
The -Statement of Charges informed the Respondents of the Commissioner’s authority to

issue a Cease and Desist Order, require affirmative action, including the payment of restitution,

! By letter of July 20, 2023, Shereefat Bologun, Assistant Commissionier, delegated authority to the Office of
Administrative Hearings (OAH) to issue proposed findings of fact, proposed conclusions of law, anda ..
recommended order. ‘ '




and notified _the Respondents of the potential sanctions, including financial penalties, that the
Commissioner may impose for the elleged violations. The Statement of Charges also advised the
Respondents that a hearing on the charges and proposed sanctions would be conducted by the
OAH and further advised the Respondents that failure to appear at the hearing may result in the
imposition of sanctions |

On August 18, 2023, the OAH issued a Notice of Remote Hea:rrng to the Respondents,
advising them that a heanng would be conducted on the Statement of Charges on November 14,
2023, at the OAH offices in Hunt Valley, Maryland. The OAH mailed the Notice by both |
certified mail and regular mail to the Respondents” business addresses. The Noticee sent by
regular mail were returned as undehverable The certified mail receipts show the following: On
August 23, 2023, someone signed for the notice directed to Respondent Dyer at 941 S Vermont
Avenue, Suite 101 # 63, Los Angelos, California, 90010; on an unspecified date, someone signed
| ~ for the three notices directed to Respondent Home Matters, Respondent Dyer, and Respondent
Willaimson at 9100 Wilshire Boulevard, # 725 E, Beverly Hllls, California, 90213; and on
Auguet 24, 2023, Glen Fernando accepted service of the notice directed to Respondent Home
Meitters at 941 S. Vermont Avenue, Suite 10l #63, Los Angelos, California, 90010.2

On November 14, 2023, I convened the heating .a‘s scheduled. Md. Code Ann., Fin, Inst.
§ 2-115(a) (Sunp. 2623).3 Kevin l\/IcGivern, Assistant Attorney General, appeared on behalf of
the CFR. No one appeared on behalf of any Respondent. After waiting for approximately fifteen
minutes and confirming the addresses, for the reasons stated on the record, I concluded that the
- Respondents were propetly notified of the location, date, and time of the hearing and conducted

the hearing.

2 CFREx. 5. '
3Unless otherwise noted, all references to the Financial Institutions Article are to the 2023 Supplement fo the 2020
Replacement Volume,
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Procedure is governed by the provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act, the hearing

tegulations of the Department of Labor, and tﬁe Rules of Procedure of the OAH, Md. Code Ann.,

State Gov’t §§ 10-201 through 10-226 (20217 & Supp. 2023); COMAR_OQ.QI.OB; and COMAR

28.02,01.

ISSUES

. 1. Did the Respohdénts violate the C.I.R. and MARS by requesting or receiving payment of
a fee or consideration prior to the consumer obtaining a mortgage loan modification? .

2, Did the Respondents violate the C.F.R. and MARS by failing to provide proper
disclosures in commercial communications with.consumers?

3. Didthe Resporidents violate the CF.R. and MARS by failing to provide proper
disclosures when advising coﬁsumers to stop making mortgage payments?

4. Did the Respondents v1olate the C.F.R. and MARS by fa111ng to 1nvest1gate consumer
. complaints?

5. Ifthe Respondents committed the charged v101at1ons, should

a.
b.

C.

Exhibits

. a cease and desist order be issued;
' ¢ivil penalties be imposed; and
a restitution order be issued? -

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I admitted the following numbered exhibits offered by the Comrmssmner -

CFREx. 1~

CFR Ex. 2 -
CFR Ex. 3 .
CFR Ex. 4 -
CFR Ex 5-
CFR Ex. 6 -
CFR Ex. 7 -

CFR Ex. 8 -

Notlce of Remote Hearing, August 17, 2023

Statement of Charges and Order for Hearing, July 20, 2023

-Dele'gatiim Letter, Tuly 20, 2023

Subpoena, issued August 18, 2023

Certified Mail Retﬁm Receipts, various dates .

Repqut of Investigation, December 13,2022 | o .
Home‘Mat’ters Agreement, July 1, 2020 -

Payment/Money Order Receipts, various dates
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CFR Ex. 9 - Correspondence from _Complamant) to the

Respondents, various dates
CFR Ex. 10-- Documentation of Undcliverable Mail, various dates? Undated?
The Respondents did not appear and, 'thcj:rcfore, offered no exhibits.
Testinidny |
The CFR presented the testimony of Heidi Boyd, Assistant Directot, Enforcement, CFR, '

and | - Complainant.

PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

[ find the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence;

1. At all times relevant t6 this matter, the Respondents were not liceﬁsed to do
business in Maryland by the CFR and were not registered with the State Department of
Assessments and Taxation.

2. Respondent Home Matiers is a business tilat operates from various locations in
California. |

3. | Respondent Dyer is .the Chief Executive Officer and resident agent of Respondent
Home Matters, a company with a designated éﬁice in California. Respondent Dyer is the owner,
directo.r, office, manager, and/or agent of Responde_nt Home Matters and directs or exercises
control over the ag:tivities and finances of i, ir;cluding its mortgage relief services and
foreclosure cohsulting services. Respondent Dyer directed or _exercised control over Respondent
.Home Matters’ activities in Maryland related to the Complainant and her husband Stephen
Swinford (collectively, the Complainants).

4. Respondent Williamson is the Supervisor of Customeér Service and an Account
Representative for Respondent Home Matters, He was the; point of contact for the Complainants

and is listed as their “specific agent.” In this capacity, he ditected and exetcised control over the '



activities and finances of Respondent Home Matters, including mortgage relief services and

foreclosure consulting services,

5. Respondent Home Matters isa busmess that offers to, “prepare and ﬁle a Federal

Regulatory Complamt with a federal government agency” and to prepare a loan modlﬁcahon
“settlement packet” for a homeowner s mortgage servicer. (CFR Ex. 7.)
6.- Offeting to obtain a loan modification is a mortgage relief service. -
A Th_e Complainants are Marylanti residents and homeowners. In July of 2020, their
mortgage payments were ourrent.. |
8. In June of 2020, the Complainants began discnssions with Respondent
 Williamson concerning Respondent .Home Matters seeking a loan Inodiﬁcation on their behalf
for their primary residential property located at 811 San Meteo Trail, Lusby, Maryland 20657,

.9. - The Complainants entorsd into a contract with Respondent Home Matters on
July 1, 9;020. Under that contract, Respondent Home Matters charged the Complainants upfront
fees totaling $5,948.02 over fiv"e;:rnonths: $1,387.03 in July 2020, $1,223.30 in August 2020,
$1,119.23 in September 2020, $1,105;.07 in October 2020, and $1,109.07 in November 2020.
The contract required the payments to be niade by rnoney order or certified check. The
Complatnants sent those payments as directed.

10, | Respondent Home Matte_ro agreed to apply fot and obtain a mortgage loan
modiﬁcation;. teducing tne principal ‘oy 30% and lowering the monthly mortgage payments.
Respondent Home Matters provided a “sample” loan modification to the Complainants, shoWing
a rednced mortgage payment and savings of over $30,000.00 over the first five years of the loan.
' (CFRTx. 2)

11, | Respondent Home Mattets never submitted a loan modification paeket to the

Complamants servicer, Carrington Mortgage Servmes (Carrington). At some point, Respondent




Home Matters filed a cease and desist “hold” with Carrington, requiring Carriﬁéton to direct its
comunications to Réspondent Home Matters and prohibiting it from contacting the
Complainants. Because.of that hold, the Complainants did not receive failure to pay or late
notic_es from Carrington, |
12. . After the initial five payments were sent from the Comple_linants to Respondent
Home Maﬁers, Respondent Williamson directed the Com:.plainants to stop making pajlfments to
~ Carrington and to pay Respondént Home Matters $1000.QO pef month instead. They did so
through July of 2022. Based on misrepresentations by Resﬁondent Wiiliarﬁson and other
u;'lidentiﬁed representatives of Respondent Home Matters, the Conlplainants believed that these
payments were being'femitted to their mortgage loan servicer.
13.  The Complaiﬁants made a total of twenty-five payménts to Resporide_pt Hdmé
Matters in the amount of $25,387.03.% Becausé Respondent Home Matters required that the
paym‘ents be mgde by certified check or money order, the payments required _the Complainants to
purchase twenty-five money orders at an additiqnal‘ cost of $2,783.54,
- 14 | OnJ uiy 1, 2022, the Complainants received a Notice of Intent to Foreclose from
' Carrington and, for the first time, learned that their moﬁgage was delinquent. -
| 15. When the Coinplainants realized that Respondent Home Matters had not
submitted any 'informatipn.on their behalf and had been taking the monthly payments wifhout
a‘pply-in;g them to any mortgage, the Complajnant called Respondent Home Matters. Resﬁondent
Williamson encouraged her to continue to send her checks on é-monthly basis. |
16.  On September 7, 2022, the Complainant wrote to Respondent ﬁome Matters and
- demanfied a refund of the money ghe had paid to them. She has not received a response .eind has

not been able to reach anyone-at Respondent Home Matters since then.

" * CFR Exhibit 8 contains a chart listing the payments and receipts for the money orders.
¢ :



17.  The contract with Respondent Home Matters did not disclose that the
Complainants could accept of reject any oft"er of mortgage assistance, and did not disclose that
: they were not required to pay the Respondents if they rejected a lendet’s ofter of mortgage
-assistanoe. It did not disclose that Respondent Home Metters was not assoctated with the
government:olr that the services offered by Respondent Home Matters were not epproved by the
government or the lender. |

| 18.  The Respondents did not disclose that if the Complainants stopped makmg
mortgage payments, they could lose the1r home and damage their credit ratlng
DISCUSSION

The Commissioner bears the burdens of productmn and persuasion to demonstrate by a
preponderance of the evidence that the Respondents v1olated the statutory and regulatory
sections at issue. See Md. Code Ann., State Gov’t § 10-217 (2021); COMAR 09.01.02.16A;
Comm'r of Labor & Industry v. Bethlehem Steel, 344 Md. 17, 34 (1996). |

The Commissioner alleges that the Respondents violated provisions of the C.F.R. and B
MARS, The Commts'sioner contends that the Respondents engaged vtrith the Complainants, -

1

Maryland homeowners, and promised to obtain a loan modification for them — and then failed

not only to provide required information and disclosures but also to make good on the promise of ‘

a loan modification, The Commission’s investigation revealed that the Respondents made false

representations, improperly collected upfront fees, failed to make required disclosures, and failed

to provide promised services. These'violations, argued the Comrnissioner, su’ojelet the
Respondents to both penalties and restitution. |

MARS provides that, “[a] mortgage assistance _telief service provider providing mortgage
~ assistance relief service in connection with a dwelling in the State that :does not con1p1y with 12

C.FR. §§ 1015.1 through 1015.11 and any subsequent revision of those regulationsis in




Violatioﬁ of this subtitle.” Md. Code Ann. Real Prop. § 7-502 (2023). The Commissioner has
-established v1olatlons of the following specific pr0v1310ns of the C.F.R.:
- §1015, 2 Definitions

Mortgage Assistance Relief Service means any service, plan, or program,
offered or provided to the consumer in exchange for consideration, that is
represented, expressly or by implication, to assist or attempt to assist the
.consumer with any of the following:

(1) Stopping, preventing, or postponing any mortgage or deed of trust
foreclosure sale for the consumer's dwelling, any repossession of the consumer's
dwelling, or otherwise saving the consumer's dwelling from foreclosure or
TepOossession; '

(2) Negotiating, obtaining, or arranging a modification of any term of a
dwelling loan, including a reduction in the amount of interest, prlnclpal balance,
monthly payments, or fees;

(3) Obtaining any forbearance or modification in the timing of payments

+ from any dwelling loan holder or servicer on any dwelling loan;

(4) Negotiating, obtaining, or arranging any extension of the period of.
time within which the consumer may:

(i) Cure his or her default on a dwelling loan,

(ii) Reinstate his or her dwelling loan,

(iif) Redeem a dwelling, or

(iv) Exercise any nght to reinstate a dwelling loan or redeem a dwelling;

: (5) Obtaining any waiver of an acceleration clavse or balloon payment
contained in any promissory note or contract secured by any dwelling; or

(6) Negotiating, obtaining or arranging: '

(i) A short sale of a dwelling,

(i) A deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, or

(iii) Any other disposition of.a dwelling other than a sale to a third party
who is not the dwelling loan holder,

Mortgage Assistance Relief Service Provider or Provider means any
person that provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide, any
mortgage assistance relief service.

§ 1015.4 Disclosures required in commercial communications.

- Itis a violation of this rule for any mortgage assistance relief service provider to
engage in the following conduct;

(a) Disclosures in All General Commercial Communications—Failing to
place the following statements in every general commercial
communication for any mortgage assistance relief service:

(1) “(Name of company) is not associated with the government,
and our setvice is not approved by the government or your
lender.™\




(b) Disclosures in All Consumer-Specific Commercial
Communications—Failing to disclose the following information in every
consumer-specific commercial comrnumeatron for any mortgage
assistance relief service:

(1) “You may stop doing business with us at any time. You may
accept or reject the offer of mortgage assistance we obtain from
your lender [or servicer], If you reject the offer, you do not
have to pay us. If you accept the offer, you will have to pay us
(insert amount or method for calculating the amount) for our
servrces ' For the purposes of this paragraph (b)(1), the amount -

“you will have to pay” shall consist of the total amount the
consumer must pay to purchase, receive, and use all of the
mortgage assistance relief services that are the subject of the
sales offer, including, but not limited to, all fees and charges.

(2) “(Name of company) is not associated with the government,
‘and our service is not approved by the government or your
lender.”

(¢) Disclosures in All General Commercial Communications, Consumer—
Specific Commercial Comimunications, and Other Communications—In
cases where the mortgage assistance relief service provider has,
represented, expressly or by implication, in connection with the

" advertising, marketing, promotion, offerrng for sale, sale, or performance
of any mortgage assistance relief service, that the consumer should

temporarily or permanently discontinue payments, in whole or in part, on

a dwelling loan, failing to disclose, cleatly and prominently, and in close
. proximity to any such representation that “If you stop paying your
mortgage, you could lose your home and damage your credit rating.”

§ 1015.5 - Prohibition on collection of advance payments and related disclosures.
It is a violation of this rule for any mortgage assistance relief service provider to:

- (a) Request of receive payment of any fee or other consideration until the
consumer has executed a written agreement between the consumer and the

" consumer's dwelling loan holder or setvicer incorporating the offer of .
mortgage assistance relief the provider obtained from the consumer's
dwelling loan holder or servicer;
(b) Fail to disclose, at the time the mortgage assistance relief service
provider furnishes the consumer with the written agreement specified in
paragraph (a} of this section, the following information: “This is an offer
of mortgage assistance we obtained from your lender Jor setvicer]. You
may accept or reject the offer. If you reject the offer, you do not have to
‘pay us. If you accept the offer, you will have to pay us [same amount as
disclosed pursuant to §1015.4(b)(1)] for our services.” The disclosure
‘required by this paragraph must be made in a clear and prominent manner,
o1 a sepatate written page, and preceded by the heading: “IMPORTANT

9




NOTICE Before buymg this service, consider the following information.”
The heading must be in bold face font that is two point- type larger than the
font size of the required dlsclosure

§ 1015.9(6)(2) Recordkeeping and compliance requirements.

A mortgage assistance relief service prm-iider also must . . . . Investigate promptly
and fully each consumer complaint received. :

The Respondents are subject to MARS because they promised to engage in mortgage
relief services for the Complainants. 12 C.I.R. §1015.2. The Complainant’s credible testimony,
supported by the CFR’s exhibits, establishes that the Complainants were the victims of a
deceptive and atrocious scam. Through deception and manipuiation, the Respondenfs preyed on
the Complainants’ kind and trusting instincts. The Respondents stole more than money from the
Complainants. The Complainant testified that her marriage suffered, her sense of her own self-
worth was undermined, and they had to move from their home,’

I agree with the Commissioner that the Respondents violated the regulations as follows:

o 12 CF.R. §1015.4 (a), requiring every general commercial communication for a

" mortgage relief service to state that the company is not associated with the
‘government or approved by the government or the lender. None of Respondent Home
Matters’ communications contain this statement.

e 12 CF.R. § 1015.4(b), requiring all consumer-specific commercial communications
to include a disclosure regarding the consumers’ right to accept or reject any offer of
mortgage assistance from the lender or servicer, not to pay the mortgage assistance
relief provider if the consumer rejects the offer of mortgage assistance. None of these
disclosures were included in the contractual offer made to the Complainants and the

Complainant testified credibly that these disclosures were never made in any other
written document or conversation.

5 The Complainant calmly and thoroughly explained what happened and why she made the decisions she did, She
was suspicious, but each time, Respondent Williamson or some other agent of the Respondent would assure her tha
things wete progressing and all was well. Since she was not receiving late notices from Carrington, she did not
suspect that the Respondents were so cunning and dishonest. Mrs. Swinford described her feeling of being gullible
and foolish to have fallen victim to this scam. She cried when discussing how it impacted her long and happy
martiage and the deecision to move from the home where they had lived for over twenty years, The Complainant,
who was sitting in the hearing room, also became emotional during this tostimony. The Respondents actions were -
reprehensible, After observing the Complainants, I believe that they did not become victims of this scam because

* they were gullible or foolish. Rather, because they are trusting, good and moral, and the Respondents manipulated
them, N
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e 12CFR. §1015.4(c), requiring, when a mortgage relief service advises a consumer
. to temporarily ot permanently discontinue payments, & clear prominent statement that
doing so eould result in losing the home or damaging the credit score, That disclosure
was never made by the Respondents. The Complainant testified credibly that
Respondent Williamson advised her to stop making payments to Catrington and to
make the payments to Respondent Home Matters instead. :

o 12CF.R. §1015.5(a), which prohibits requesting or receiving payment of a fee until
the consumer and the lender or servicer have executed a written agreement
incorporating the offer of mortgage assistance relief, The Respondents collected over
$5,000 in upfront fees'over five months. The “written agreement” was a complete
sham and-did not incorporate any legitimate offer of mortgage assistance rehef The

* Respondents had no intention of seekmg a loan modlﬁcatlon

e 12 C.E.R. §1015.5(b), which »requires a disclosure that the offer of mortgage
assistance be obtained from the lender or servicer, that the consumers have a right to
accept or reject the offer, and that if the offer is rejected, no fee is reéquired. This

disclosure was not made as the Respondents are the perpetrators of a scam. There was.

no offer from a lender or services because the Respondents did not seek one.

o 12 CUF.R. §1015.9(b)(2), which requires a mortgage assistance relief providerto
promptly investigate consumer complaints. When the Complainants learned their
" mortgage was delinquent, they called the Respondents. Respondent Williamson
encouraged them to continue to make payments. After they demanded a refund, the
Respondents never communicated again. There was obviously no investigation.

As the Commission established the violations, the Commissionerr may take action to
address the Vlolatlons The Comm1ss1oner relies on-section 2- 115(b) of the Fman(:lal Instltutmns

Article of the Maryland Annotated Code:

When the Commissioner determines after notice and a hearing, unless the right to
notice and a hearing is waived, that a person has engaged in an act or practice
constituting a violation of a law, regulation, rule ot order over which the
Commissioner has jurisdiction, the Commissioner may in the Commissioner’s
discretion and in addition to taking any other action authorized by law:
» (1) Issue a final cease and desist order against the person; -
(2) Suspend or revoke the license of the person;
(3) Issue a penalty order against the person 1mposmg a civil penalty not
exceeding:
() $10,000,00 for a first Vlolat1on, and
(ii) $25,000.00 for each subsequent violation; or
(4) Take any oombmatlon of the actions specified in ﬂ’llS subsectlon
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A financial penalty i.s_ based on consideration of six factors:

(1) The seriousness of the violation;

(2) The good faith of the violator;

(3) The violator’s history of previous violations;

(4) The deleterious effect of the violation on the public and the 11:1dustry 1nv01ved

(5) The assets of the violator; and

(6) Any other factors relevant to'the determination of the financial penalty.

Md. Code Ann Fin. Inst. § 2-115(c).

Add1t1ona,11y, the Comrmssmner may igsue an order requifing the Respondents to take
afﬁrmatwe action to correct the ‘v101at1ons, mcludlng the payment of restitution. Md. Code Ann.,
Real Prop §7 506(0)

The Commissioner requested a cease and desist order, a financial penalty‘of $60,000.00
and full resfitution of all moneys faid by the Complainants to Respondent Home Matters. This’
propbse,d penalty is based on a $10,000.00 penalty for the first violation, collecﬁné the upfront
fee, $25,000.00 for the failure to disé-lose violations, and $25,000.00 for the failure fo investigate
violations. Counsel for the CFR noted that thjs was Va floot and that the Commissioner has the
discretion to consider each payment made bf the Complainants; asa separéte violation of 12
C.F.R. § 1015.5 (a). |

I agree with the Commissioner that a substantial penalty ils appropriate in this case based
on the factors set out in section 2-115 of the Financial Inétitutioﬁs Article. The violations are
serious —the Respondehts clearly took advantage of Marylénd homeowners ooncerné& about
retaim'_ng-the'ir home and not only failed to ;.lSSiSt» them but, in fact, inflicted further financial and
emotional harm. The Respondents’ misleading communications and promises, without required
disclosures, deméﬁstraté that the Respondents’ ac‘éions were deliberate and calculated, The fact
that the Respondents took all of the money and did nothing for the C@nplainants shows thﬁt they.r _
are thieves; there cslm b;a no plausible claim of good faith, Further, the Respondénts’

unresponsiveness to the Complainants once they learned their home was in foreclosure supports -
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the conclusion that the Respondents were not acting in good faith. Ir;s’fead of attempting to

rectify the situation, the Respondents sought to perpetuate the scam.,

The harm to coﬁsumers and the deleterious effect on both the public and the industry is
significant. Legitimate mortgage loan modification pfovides an important service to struggling
homeowners, an effort that is damaged by the actions of scammers and the d'isu;ust they cause.
The egregiousness of the Resb'ondents’ actions merits a severe penalty, While I Wo_uld be
inclined to recommend more than $60,000.00, I also understand that ﬁese .penalties are,uﬁlikely
to be éollected és ?:he Réspondents are funning a criminal enterprise, not a legitimate business_.

In addition, I agree with the Commissioner that a cease and desist order is aiap:opriate to
ensure that the Respondents do not further engage in activities prohiﬁitéd by MARS., |

Final‘ly, as the Respondents harmed the Comﬁlainants -and have not taken any action to
| .correct fhe violations, I recommlend that the Respondents pay restitution to the Complaingnts in

 the amount of $28,170.57.
PROPOSED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Commissioner has proven by 8 prepoi_lderance of the evidence that the Respondents:

1. Engaged iﬁ the followirig conduct in violations of the C.F.R. and MARS:
a. Requested and received payment of fees prior to the consumer obtéining a
niortgage loan modification in violation of 12 C.ER. § 1015.5 and Md, Code

Ann., Real Prop. §7-502;

'b. Failed to make necessary disclosures to the consumers in general and specific

consumet cormmunications in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(=) and (b) and Md.

L

Code Ann., Real Prop. §7-502; .
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C. Providé proper diséllosure when Iadvising a consumer to stop making mortgage
payments in Viélation of 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(c) and Md. Code Ann., i{eal Prop.
§7-502; and |

d. Failing to investigate a consumer complaint in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1615.9(b)
and Md. Code Ann., Real Prop. §7-502. |

2. I further conclude that the speciﬁc sanctions and remedies requested by the CFR are
authorizéd by law and appropriate. Md. Code Ann., Fin. Inst. § 2—1 15 and Md. Code
- Amn., Real Property § 7-506.

RECOMMENDED ORDER

[ RECOMMEND that the Commissioner:
- ORDER that the Respondents shall immediately CEASE AND DESIST from engaging

in any forther mortgage assistance relief services; and

ORDER that for violations of the Maryland Mortgage Assistance Relief Sérvices Act,

the Respondents pay a penalty of $60,000.00 and further;

ORDER, the Respondents shall pay restitution to the Cbmplait}ants totalingr $28,170.57;

dRDER, the Respondents are joinﬁy and severally liable for the payment of the penalty
and restitution;_ and | |

ORDER that the records and publications of the Commissioner reflect this decision.

Dencae O Ska,
December 13,2023 %

Date Decision Issued Denise O. Shaffer
' ' Administrative Law Judge

DOS/ja
#208770
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MARYLAND COMMISSIONER OF  * . BEXORE DENISE O, SHAFFER,

FINANCIAL REGULATION - = AN ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

v ‘. *  OF THE MARYLAND OFFICE OF .
SOUTHWEST CONSULTING £ ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS
ENTERPRISES, INC., d/b/a o OAHNO.: LABOR-CFR-76-23-21220

- HOME MATTERS USA, et al., * . CFRNO.: CFR-FY2623-0009
RESPONDENTS | | .
FILE EXHIBIT LIST

I admitted ﬂie following numbered exhibits offered by the Commissioner:

CEFR Ex

CFR Ex

_ CFR Ex.
CFR Ex.
'CFR Ex.
CFR Ex.
CFR Ex.
CFR Ex,

CIR Ex.

CFR Ex

V1= Notiqe‘of Remote Hearing, August 17, 2023

.2 - Statement of Cherges and Order for Hearing, Julgz 20, 2023

3. Delegation letier, July 20, 2023

4 - Sﬁbpoena, issued August 18, 2023

5-  Certified mail i‘eﬁlm receipts, various dates '

6 - Report of Investigation, ‘I_)ecember 13,2022

7 - THome Matters Agreémént, ) uljf 1, 2020

8- Pawnenﬂrﬁoney order receipts, various dates

9 - Corfespondence from .Complainant' to Respondents, various dates

. 10 - Documentation of undeliverable mail

'The Respondents did not appear and, therefore, offered no exhibits.






